
CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate 
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information to 
request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

 
 

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, August 5, 2015 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall, First Floor 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the July 22, 2015 Meeting 

3. Discussion of Fire Department Regulations Related to Outdoor Fires 

4. Street Vacation – Tuck-a-Way Lane 
Review and consideration of the vacation of Tuck-a-Way Lane located west of 
Claremont Drive 

5. Zoning Map Amendment – 2460 Milwaukee Road and 1420 Office Park Lane 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the 
zoning from C-1, Office District, to PLI, Public Lands and Institutions District, for the 
property located at 2460 Milwaukee Road and from M-2, General Manufacturing 
District, to PLI, Public Lands and Institutions District, for the property located at 1420 
Office Park Lane 

6. Conditional Use Permit – 2900 Milwaukee Road – Noodles & Company  
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow outdoor 
seating and outdoor sales, possession and consumption of alcohol in a PUD, Planned 
Unit Development District, for property located at 2900 Milwaukee Road 

7. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 

8. Adjournment 

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Ashley Rosenbaum in the Planning 
Office at 364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting. 

Notice Mailed:  July 31, 2015 Approved: Julie Christensen, Community 
Development Director 



CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511

Page 1 of 3

MEETING MINUTES
Beloit City Plan Commission

Wednesday, July 22, 2015 at 7:00 PM
The Forum

Beloit City Hall, First Floor
100 State Street, Beloit

1. Call to Order and Roll Call
Chairperson Faragher called the meeting to order at 7:02pm. Commissioners Faragher,
Mathis, Tinder, Finnegan, Ruster, Johnson, and Councilor Kincaid were present.
Commissioner Moore was absent.

2. Approval of the Minutes of the July 8, 2015 Meeting
Commissioner Tinder moved to approve the minutes. Commissioner Finnegan
seconded the motion. The motion carried, voice vote.

3. Conditional Use Permit – 901 Bayliss Avenue – Dave’s Bait & Tackle
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow indoor
alcohol sales in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District for property located at 901
Bayliss Avenue.

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and
recommendation.

Chairperson Faragher stated that he was aware that Councilor Deforest requested a
police report regarding activities in the 901 Bayliss Ave neighborhood for the City
Council meeting.

Commissioner Johnson moved to approve the motion. Commissioner Tinder seconded
the motion. The motion carried, voice vote.

4. Conditional Use Permit – 911 E Grand Avenue
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow second-
story residential above retail in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District for property
located at 911 E Grand Avenue.

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and
recommendation.

Michelle Crossley, the owner and operator of the business of 911 E Grand Ave, residing
at 927 Harrison Ave, spoke to the Commission. Chairperson Faragher asked what the



Page 2 of 3

previous use of the upper floor had been. Ms. Crosley stated that the entire building
used to be an antique store. She also stated that it would not require an extensive
amount of work to convert the upper floor into a residence.

Commissioner Tinder moved to approve the motion. Finnegan seconded the motion.
The motion carried, voice vote.

5. Conditional Use Permit – 430 E Grand Avenue – Zen Sushi
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow outdoor
seating and outdoor sales, possession and consumption of alcohol in a CBD-1, Central
Business District, Core, for property located at 430 E Grand Avenue.

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and
recommendation.

Commissioner Tinder inquired into the reasoning behind the Fire Department’s
objection to having an open flame style table. Ms. Christensen was unable to speak for
the Fire Department.

Councilor Kincaid asked what the process would be if the Fire Department objected to
removal of the condition. Ms. Christensen explained that City Council would have the
final say and the conditional use permit would not return to the Plan Commission.

Commissioner Ruster asked if there were any alcohol permits available. Ms.
Christensen explained that Zen Sushi had previously applied for, and received, the
license. Ms. Christensen also explained that there were a number of different classes of
alcohol licenses available.

Dan Barkus, 525 Third Street (Hendricks’ Commercial Property), spoke to the
Commission. Mr. Barkus stated that they would be willing to work with staff and the
Commission to develop a compromise regarding the open flame fire pit tables.

Chairperson Johnson asked if the Zen Sushi restaurant had requested additional
seating in front of the restaurant. Ms. Christensen explained that they had applied for a
Sidewalk Café Licenses which would be approved by staff. The Plan Commission does
not need to approve this request.

Commissioner Mathis stated that he has had previous experience with outdoor seating
with grills available and supported the applicants request to have them.

Commissioner Tinder moved to remove condition number three, “The applicant may
not use tables or other furnishings that create an open flame, regardless of fuel type or
source.” Commissioner Mathis seconded the motion. The motion carried, voice vote.

Commissioner Johnson moved to approve the amended motion. Commissioner Ruster
seconded the motion. The motion carried, voice vote.



Page 3 of 3

6. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items
Ms. Christensen explained that the City Council will take action on the EVM sign
ordinance amendment at their next meeting.

7. Adjournment
The meeting adjourned at 7:30pm.

Respectfully submitted by Ashley Rosenbaum



August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 

 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: August 5, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 4 File Number: VA-2015-01 

Applicant: Chambers IV, LLC Adjacent Zoning: PUD Adjacent Land Use: Residential 
 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
The Planning & Building Services Division has received a petition to vacate Tuck-A-Way Lane, which is a 142-foot dead-
end street that intersects with Claremont Drive at the northern edge of the Parkmeadow North subdivision. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 As originally planned, this U-shaped street was intended to connect Claremont Drive to W. Hart Road, with 4-unit 
residential buildings on both sides of the street. 

 The Parkmeadow North Phase 3 subdivision plat was approved & recorded, which dedicated Tuck-A-Way Lane 
as it current exists. Phase 4 of this subdivision was not recorded before the recession stalled this development, so 
Tuck-A-Way Lane has remained a short dead-end for the past decade. 

 The applicant has received preliminary approval to construct a 100-unit assisted living facility on the northern 
portion of the Phase 4 land and has proposed private driveways connecting their development to both Claremont 
Drive and W. Hart Road in lieu of the public street known as Tuck-A-Way Lane. The applicant wishes to control 
access to Claremont Drive, which requires vacating the right-of-way known as Tuck-A-Way Lane as shown on the 
attached Plat of Vacation, thereby returning the land to the applicant. A utility easement will be retained over the 
land due to the presence of public utilities. 

 All required Public Notices have been distributed and published and the Notice of Pendency was recorded with 
the Rock County Register of Deeds on July 1, 2015. 

 As required by Wisconsin Statutes, the City Council has adopted a Resolution setting a date for a public hearing 
for this vacation request of August 17, 2015. 

 Aside from requesting a utility easement, the City’s Review Agents did not submit any comments or concerns. 
 
 
Consistency with Strategic Plan:  

 Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact 
both the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines) 
 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the request to vacate Tuck-A-Way Lane, as 
described in the attached Plat of Vacation, returning the entire right-of-way to the adjacent property owner (applicant). 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Map, Approved PUD Plans, Photo, Petition, Plat of Vacation, Public Hearing Resolution, & Public Notice. 
 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 

Proposed Assisted Living Facility 

Shopko Plaza 

Hospital 

Parkmeadow North 

Phase 3 To Remain Vacant 

(unplatted) 

Tuck-A-Way Lane 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

2014 PUD Plan 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

2004 

Approved 

PUD Plan 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 
 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 
 

 
 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 



 

August 5 Staff Report 4, Vacation of Tuck-A-Way Lane 

 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane     

 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: August 5, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 5 File Number: ZMA-2015-02 

Applicant: Craig Zastrow 
 

Owner: Central Christian Church of 
Beloit 
 

Location: 2460 Milwaukee Road & 
1420 Office Park Lane 
 

Current Zoning: C-1, Office District & 
M-2, General Manufacturing District 
Proposed Zoning: PLI, Public Lands 
& Institutions District 

Existing Land Use: Church Parcel Size: 10.1 Acres & 4.1 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Craig Zastrow, Executive Pastor of Central Christian Church, has submitted an application for a Zoning Map Amendment 
to change the zoning district classification from C-1, Office District & M-2, General Manufacturing District to PLI, Public 
Lands & Institutions District, for the properties located at 2460 Milwaukee Road & 1420 Office Park Lane. 
 
The attached Location & Zoning Map shows the location of the subject properties and the zoning of the surrounding 
area. The adjacent zoning and land uses are as follows: 

 North: R-1A, Single-Family Residential District; Single-Family Residential 
 South: M-2, General Manufacturing District; Manufacturing & Office 
 East: PLI, Public Lands & Institutions District; Fran Fruzen Intermediate School 
 West: C-3, Community Commercial; Commercial & Vacant Land 

 
The Zoning Ordinance directs the Plan Commission to hold a hearing and make a recommendation regarding a Zoning 
Map Amendment when the specific site and context are suitable for the uses permitted in the proposed zoning district. 
  
Key Issues: 

 This request includes the main church campus parcel located at 2460 Milwaukee Road, as well as a vacant 
church-owned parcel that includes a stormwater retention pond to the south of the church campus, which is 
addressed as 1420 Office Park Lane. 

 Planning staff supports this proposed Zoning Map Amendment, as both properties are planned for Institutional & 
Community Service uses. If approved, the requested rezoning will bring the subject properties into compliance 
with the City’s Future Land Use Map, which is part of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 The PLI district is a special purpose district that is intended to accommodate major public and quasipublic uses 
such as parks, schools, cemeteries, municipal buildings, religious institutions, etc. 

 The applicant is not proposing any land use changes at this time, although the requested rezoning to PLI will 
formally legalize the church’s accessory uses, as day care centers & community service uses are expressly 
permitted in the PLI district. In addition, if the City Council approves a related request to allow Electronically 
Variable Message (EVM) signs in PLI districts, the applicant will be able to implement their long-standing 
preference to replace their static message board with an EVM sign. 

 The 1420 Office Park Lane property is technically part of the Industrial Park, but the church has no plans to sell or 
lease it for industrial uses, and will continue to use the parcel for stormwater detention with the possibility of 
additional parking area in the future. 

 Planning staff posted an informational sign on the subject property and mailed the attached Public Notice to the 
owners of nearby properties. As of this writing, staff has not received any comments. 

 Findings of Fact - Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a 
recommendation based on the following considerations. Unless otherwise noted, the phrase “subject property” is 
used when referring to both parcels involved in this application. 

a. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property; 

 The subject property is located on an arterial roadway that also serves as State Highway 81. 
The subject property is adjacent to, and provides access to/from, the new Fran Fruzen 
Intermediate School. The subject property is also near the new Beloit Health System Cancer 
Center and backs up to the Beloit Industrial Park. The proposed rezoning is compatible with 
the institutional, commercial, and industrial uses in the general area. 

b. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property; 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane     

 The subject property is adjacent to the 14-acre Fran Fruzen site, which is zoned PLI. Other 
nearby zoning districts include M-2 to the south, C-3 & PUD on the opposite side of 
Willowbrook Road, and R-1A on the opposite side of Milwaukee Road. 

c. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; 
and 

 The subject property is suitable for the uses permitted in the C-1 & M-2 districts, although the 
existing zoning classifications are inconsistent with the adopted Future Land Use Plan. 

d. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property. 

 There has been significant development activity in the general area of the subject property 
during the past few years. The Fran Fruzen Intermediate School site to the east was just 
completed and was preceded by a rezoning of that land to PLI. The Beloit Health System 
Cancer Center was completed in 2014. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map (#10) designates the subject properties as appropriate for Institutional & 
Community Service uses, and achieving consistency with this recommendation is the impetus for this request. This 
proposed Zoning Map Amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, as required by Section 66.1001(3) of 
Wisconsin Statutes. 
 
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact 
both the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines) 
 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
Based upon the above Findings of Fact and the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the Planning & Building Services Division 
recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from C-1, Office District & 
M-2, General Manufacturing District to PLI, Public Lands & Institutions District, for the properties located at 2460 
Milwaukee Road & 1420 Office Park Lane. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List. 
 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane 

 
 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane  

 
 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane  

 
 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane 

 



August 5 Staff Report 5, ZMA, 2460 Milwaukee Road-1420 Office Park Lane 

 



CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: August 5, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 6 File Number: CU-2015-09 

Applicant: Chipman Design 
Architecture 

Owner: McBain Enterprises Inc Location: 2900 Milwaukee Road 

Existing Zoning: PUD, Planned Unit 
Development 
 

Existing Land Use: Fast-food 
restaurant/Vacant 

Parcel Size: 2.71 Acres 

  
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Chipman Design Architecture, on behalf of Noodles and Company, has filed an application for a Conditional Use 
Permit to allow an outdoor seating area and outdoor sales, possession, & consumption of alcohol in a PUD, Planned 
Unit Development District, for the property located at 2900 Milwaukee Road.  
 
  
Key Issues: 

 Noodles and Company will be opening soon in a building on the subject property previously occupied by 
Arby’s. 

 The applicant has proposed the construction of a concrete patio on the northwest side of the building facing 
Milwaukee Road. 

 The patio area was approved by Planning staff in a site plan review in June of 2015 with the expectation that 
McBain Properties would eventually lease the building to a restaurant tenant.  

 According to the applicant, the furniture in the outdoor seating area will include tables with umbrellas and 
chairs, with seating for 16 customers. 

o Pictures of the proposed chairs, tables, and umbrellas are attached. 
 Condition #5 of the Resolution authorizing a PUD for 2850 and 2900 Milwaukee Road states that the 

regulations for allowable use and dimensional standards of the C-3 District shall apply to the parcels within the 
PUD. 

o Section 4-902 of the Zoning Ordinance states that outdoor seating areas for restaurants in a C-3 
Commercial District are only allowed if reviewed and approved in accordance with the Conditional Use 
Permit review procedures.   

 Section 125.68(3) of the Wisconsin Statutes regulates liquor sales within 300 feet of the main entrance of any 
school, hospital, or church. This statute does not apply to restaurants, and therefore does not apply to this 
request. The applicant is in the process of applying for a license to sell alcoholic beverages both indoors and 
outdoors on the proposed patio. 

 The application and site plan are attached to this report. 
 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed this application and have submitted the following comments or 

concerns: 
o Fire Department – Outdoor gate must be marked as an exit. If building has a fire alarm, a strobe 

needs to be located on the patio near the door into the building in order to alert customers on the patio 
to use the outside exit rather than entering the building. 

 The attached Public Notice was sent to three (3) nearby property owners. No public comments have been 
received. 

 Findings of Fact 
o Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
 The proposed outdoor patio, managed by a popular and well-established company, will add 

activity to the commercial area without endangering public health, safety, morals, comfort, or 
general welfare.  

o Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted; 

 The conditional use will not injure the use and enjoyment of nearby properties. The property is 
adjacent to similar uses and is located within a busy corridor with many other service and 
retail-oriented businesses. The addition of an outdoor patio is compatible with adjacent uses 
and will not have a negative impact on nearby properties. 

o Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood of the subject property; 



 The conditional use will not diminish or impair property values in the neighborhood. The 
opening of a responsible, well-managed business will enhance the area.    

o Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property; 

 The surrounding area is already developed. 
o Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar 

or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that 
it will cause a depreciation in property values; 

 Similar outdoor patios exist at other businesses in the Milwaukee Road commercial corridor. 
The proposed patio will not cause a depreciation in property values. 

o Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to 
serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 

 Adequate parking exists to serve any extra customers the outdoor patio may attract to the 
restaurant. 

o Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  
 Not Applicable. 

o Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 The conditional use will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan: 
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Community Commercial uses for the subject parcel. This request and the 
intent of the PUD Zoning District are consistent with this recommendation. Consideration of this request supports City 
of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: 
 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow an outdoor 
seating area and outdoor sales, possession, & consumption of alcohol in a PUD, Planned Unit Development District, 
for the property located at 2900 Milwaukee Road, based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes Noodles and Company, Inc to serve food and beverages within a 
concrete patio area on the northwest side of the building. 

2. Prior to serving alcoholic beverages in the outdoor seating area, the applicant shall obtain an Alcoholic 
Beverages License that includes the outdoor seating area. 

3. The outdoor gate must be marked as an exit. If building has a fire alarm, a strobe needs to be located on the 
patio near the door into the building, per the comments from the Fire Department. 

4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan 
Commission and City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Planning and Building Services 
Director may approve minor changes administratively.  

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: 
N/A 

 

Attachments: 
Zoning and Location Map, Application, Site Plan, Furniture Photos, Public Notice, and Mailing List 



  



 



 
  



 
  



 
  



 

 



 

 



 
July 23, 2015 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

Chipman Design Architecture, on behalf of Noodles & Company, has filed an application for a Conditional 

Use Permit to allow an outdoor seating area and outdoor sales, possession, & consumption of alcohol in a 

PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the property located at: 

 

2900 Milwaukee Road. 

 

Noodles and Company will be opening soon in the building previously occupied by Arby’s. The applicant 

has proposed a raised concrete patio on the northwest side of the building facing Milwaukee Road. The 

following public hearings will be held regarding this proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

 

City Plan Commission:  Wednesday, August 5, 2015, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be 

heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

City Council:  Monday, August 17, 2015, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be heard in The 

Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

 

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS. 
 

We are interested in your opinion. 
 

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and submit them to 

the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins.  Staff is unable to leave the meeting area to make copies. 

 

For additional information, please contact Alex Morganroth in the Planning Division at (608) 364-6708 

or morganrotha@beloitwi.gov.  Comments will be accepted via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail

mailto:morganrotha@beloitwi.gov


 

 

 
 

owner_last_name owner_first_name owner_address_line1 owner_city owner_state owner_zip 
AMUSEMENT BROKERS 
LTD JOHN PATCH 1875 BRANIGAN RD BELOIT WI 53511 

BELOIT EXPRESS INC 
DBA HOLIDAY INN 
EXPRESS 2790 MILWAUKEE RD BELOIT WI 53511 

ARC CAFEUSA001 LLC % WENDYS 082591 
1903 STANLEY GAULT 
PKWY LOUISVILLE KY 40223 


